

NMBPA National Officer CANDIDATE HANDBOOK & APPLICATION



October 1, 2023

Dear Prospective NMBPA National Officer Candidate

We are very excited that you are interested in exploring the possibility of running for office with New Mexico Business Professionals of America and helping to serve members from across the state!

The opportunity to serve as the NMBPA National Officer Candidate will allow you to further develop your skills as a servant leader, enhance your communication and human relations experiences, and can ultimately be a very rewarding experience that will help you maximize your long-term success.

Serving as an Executive Officer is considered a prestigious honor and distinct privilege, which requires an exceptional level of dedication and commitment to accomplish multiple goals and objectives throughout the membership year. This opportunity also demands a significant amount of time, the ability to meet high expectations, the capacity to establish measurable goals, communications skills with members, advisors, alumni, and more, and the willingness to operate as a member of an efficient and successful team. The overall success of BPA is dependent upon the determination, devotion, and professionalism of the State Executive Council.

Before making a final determination on whether to proceed with this process, please take a few minutes to ask yourself the following questions:

- Do you view yourself as a servant leader?
- Do you care less about individual titles and more about team success?
- Do you work well within a team and can collaborate in a positive manner, even when your own opinion may differ from the team?
- Are you willing to place the overall success of BPAabove any personal goals?
- Do you have 5-10 hours per week to dedicate to BPA?
- Do you excel in organizational skills and time management?
- Do you pride yourself on providing timely and professional communications?

If you answered "Yes" to all these questions, you would make a great candidate to represent NMBPA as a National Officer Candidate!

The following handbook contains important information concerning becoming a candidate to represent NMBPA as a National Officer Candidate. Ensure that you completely review the information in this Handbook pertaining to your duties in relation to being Candidates. Review the election information regarding voting delegate responsibilities and election procedures.

Please be aware of the following:

Eslie Mitherin

- 1. Candidates should print the Candidate Checklist in the forms section of this handbook to ensure all of the required documentation is completed.
- 2. Candidates that submit incomplete or late application forms and materials will be automatically eliminated (all items are included on the Candidate Checklist)
- 3. No handwritten documents will be accepted. All candidate information should be keyed.
- 4. All candidate information must be submitted online no later than <u>JANUARY 19</u>, 2024 at 4:30 pm MST.
- 5. All candidates, advisors, and at least one legal guardian must plan to attend the Candidate Briefing meeting on Zoom prior to the State Leadership Conference. More information about the Session will be emailed out once candidacy has been approved.
- 6. All candidates must attend the Officer Candidate Information Session to be held at the State Leadership Conference. More information about the Session will be emailed out once candidacy has been approved.

Should you have any questions throughout this process, please contact me at lesliedannferris@vahoo.com.

Sincerely,

Leslie Ferris

State Executive Officer Coordinator, New Mexico Business Professionals of America | nmctso.com/bpa Leadership and Marketing Coordinator, New Mexico Career Technical Leadership Project | nmctso.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	GENERAL INFORMATION 1
	Important Reminders
	BPA Executive Council
	Duties & Responsibilities
II.	CHAPTER APPROVAL INFORMATION
III.	CANDIDATE INFORMATION
	Application Qualifications5
	Application Procedures
	Application Materials6
	Application Review
	Notification of Candidacy7
	Campaign Regulations
	Online Elections9
IV.	ELECTION INFORMATION
	Seating10
	Voting Delegate Allocation10
	Voting Delegate Responsibilities
	Voting Delegate Procedures
	General Election Procedures 11
	Official Ballot
V.	ELECTION SESSIONS 12
	Penalty for Absence
	Candidate Briefing Meeting
	Officer Candidate Information Session. 12



	Officer Candidate Interviews.	12
	Campaign Area Set Up	13
	Opening Session	13
	Campaign Rally	13
	Awards Session	13
	New Officer Orientation	13
VI.	CANDIDATE FORMS	15
VII.	Other	21
	Expenditures/Campaign Expense Report Blank	21
	Expenditures/Campaign Expense Report Example	22
	Officer Candidate Important Dates/Events	23
VII.	Resources	24

BPA Fact Sheet Style Reference Manual 100 Word Statements Examples



General Information

Important Reminders

The application along with all supporting documents and forms must be uploaded electronically by January 19, 2024 at 4:30 pm MST. To access the form, visit: INSERT LINK

- Any candidate that submits an incomplete application or does not meet the submission deadline will be automatically eliminated from consideration.
- It is highly recommended that each candidate prints the "Candidate Checklist" to help them ensure that all the required documentation is completed.
- All supporting documentation and forms must be typewritten. No handwritten documents will be accepted.

Purpose

This handbook seeks to provide all important information and answer questions concerning eligibility, campaigning, and election procedures which govern the New Mexico Business Professionals of America National Officer Candidate Election for prospective candidates at the State Leadership Conference (SLC). Electronic copies are provided to local chapters to distribute to state officer candidates, national officer candidates, campaign managers, voting delegates, and advisors.

BPA Executive Council

Definition and Role

Executive officers are individuals serving in a specific position within either the Secondary or Postsecondary BPA division. Collectively they are referred to as the "executive council." These elected student members shall operate as a high functioning team, dedicated to the welfare of their respective division and success of all members. They represent the national organization at various conferences and meetings during their term and can make recommendations to the National Board of Trustees.

New Mexico National Executive Candidates

New Mexico BPA can send up to two (2) National Executive Candidates from the Secondary Division will be elected to represent NM BPA as National Executive Candidates at the National Leadership Conference. All NM National Executive Candidates must have approval from the State Advisor and the Board of Directors to run.

Candidates for NM National Executive Candidate must be a Junior or Senior when running for office.

Each chapter may have a maximum of one (1) National Executive candidate per school. The Chapter Advisor is the only person authorized to determine which students may be declared applicants for NM National Executive Candidate.



Structure

The executive council for the Secondary Division is comprised of up to six (6) officer positions, including:

Secondary

- President
- Vice President
- Secretary
- Treasurer
- Historian
- Parliamentarian

Executive Officer Duties and Responsibilities

General Duties

It shall be the duty of each elected officer to serve their respective division in any capacity as directed by BPA, as outlined within published BPA governing documents, or as instructed by the Executive Council. Each executive officer shall also commit to being a positive BPA brand ambassador and always promote the general welfare of Business Professionals of America.

The goal of the executive council is to advocate, educate, motivate, and inspire all BPA student members, advisors, educators, staff, and other key stakeholders to achieve the mission of Business Professionals of America.

Each executive officer shall serve a one (1) year term that begins once they are officially elected at the 2024 National Leadership Conference and concludes at the closing of the 2025 National Leadership Conference.

Each executive officer will spend between 5-10 hours per week planning and executing the division Program of Work, actively participating on assigned sub-committees, responding to member inquiries and other mission-critical tasks. It is important to realize that, although academics remain the number one priority, you will not be able to fall behind in your responsibilities to BPA members. Below is a listing of some typical responsibilities that each executive officer should be willing to adhere to:

- Collaborate, develop, and implement a divisional Program of Work.
- Maintain regular and timely communications with the executive council, leadership development specialist, national staff, membership, and all other key stakeholders. o expected response time is within 24 hours.
- Attend and participate in all divisional and combined team meetings.
- Treat fellow officers with respect and value their opinions.
- Provide guidance, leadership, and inspiration to all members.
- Represent the views of the membership; not only those of the individual officers.
- Forward all requests for services to the leadership development specialist for scheduling.
- Notify the leadership development specialist immediately of circumstances which prevent carrying out any assignment.
- Develop a motivational or inspirational keynote for student members.
- Develop a signature workshop presentation.
- Maintain BPA brand standards in person and online (social media, email, etc.).
- Wear an official BPA blazer and professional attire to all functions when representing BPA.



- Travel, as requested, to promote BPA at various conferences and meetings.
- Abide by the Code of Ethics as established by the National Board of Trustees.

BPA Brand Ambassadors

In addition to representing student members, executive officers represent the BPA brand at large. Executive officers are expected to communicate and represent the BPA brand, mission and vision, and key organizational goals to all stakeholders. As a representative of the organization, executive officers must abide by certain rules and expectations, including projecting a professional image, using proper etiquette, and always interacting in a positive manner.

Other specific duties and responsibilities based on each position may be found in the official BPA Executive Officer Candidate at: https://members.bpa.org/run-for-executive-council/



Chapter Approval Information

Chapter Eligibility

Each chapter may nominate a maximum of one (1) candidates to serve as the NMBPA National Officer Candidate.

Screening Procedures

If a chapter has more than one (1) candidate interested in running for this position, it is the responsibility of each chapter to develop the screening procedures utilized to arrive at the maximum number of candidates allowed.

Chapter Advisor Role

The respective Chapter Advisor for each candidate plays an important role during the application process. We highly encourage Chapter Advisors to work side-by-side with each of their approved candidates to ensure that all components of the application are completed accurately and uploaded by the required deadlines. Additionally, we would appreciate making sure they understand the full scope of each individual officer role in which they are interested and ensure that they will have the time available to fulfill the responsibilities associated with each position.

Chapter Advisor Responsibilities

- Review forms and materials of all candidates and screen as necessary to meet the maximum number of candidates allowed per chapter.
- Approve all material and sign all required paperwork by the deadline
- Understand that the chapter is responsible for all campaign and travel expenses at the State and National Leadership Conferences of the candidate
- Review the office Executive Officer Candidate Guide at https://members.bpa.org/run-for-executive-council/

Executive Officer Candidate Support

If a candidate from their chapter is elected to represent NMBPA at Nationals or as an Executive Officer at the National Level, we ask that chapter advisors be willing to support them and commit to helping hold them accountable throughout their term in office. Our goal is to partner with chapter advisors to ensure that this is a very rewarding and beneficial experience for their chapter representative.



Candidate Information

Application Qualifications:

The student candidate applying as a NMBPA National Officer Candidate must meet the specific qualifications below:

Paperwork Deadline

The candidate must submit a state officer packet by the deadline listed in the state officer application.

Approval of Local Chapter

The candidate must have written approval from their Local Chapter Advisor and Principal.

Active Member

The candidate must be a current, dues-paid, active member in good standing at the State and National level. They must have been an active member in BPA for one year before running.

Leadership Experience

The candidate must be currently serving (or have served) as an elected officer of Business Professionals of America at one of the following levels: (1) Chapter or (2) State.

Enrollment

The candidate must be currently enrolled, or previously enrolled, in a business, career and technical, and/or career related program as approved by the state. Every elected officer must be enrolled in an accredited Secondary or Postsecondary institution for their entire term on the executive council.

Grade Point Average

The candidate must have a <u>3.0 GPA</u> based on a 4.0 scale (school transcript is required). A student will not have any "F"s in any course. The grade average shall include all subjects taken the previous year and including the first semester or quarter of the current school year.

Knowledge

The candidate must take the State Officer BPA Test. These scores will be provided to the voting delegates at the Business Session

Application Procedures:

- Candidates will campaign for the opportunity to serve New Mexico Business Professionals of America.
- The candidate will complete all forms and materials specified in the Candidate Checklist section and submit the online registration form by the State Association designated deadline.
- The Local Advisor must approve all materials and sign the State Officer Nomination Form. A local principal must also sign the form.
- All materials must be submitted no later than <u>January 19, 2024 before 4:30 pm MST</u> online at https://tinyurl.com/NMBPASOC2024.
 - The State Executive Council Coordinator will confirm receipt of all forms.



- The candidate will keep a copy of all materials and bring them to the State Leadership Conference.
- All materials must be originals when submitted. Former candidates cannot reuse old files, 100 Word Statements, Speeches, etc.

Application Materials (All materials should be saved as PDF, unless otherwise stated, and submitted online by the deadline):

Forms Provided to Candidate (See Candidate Forms Section)

- 1. Candidate Nomination Form (to be filled out online)
- 2. Local Advisor Guidelines (must be signed by local advisor)
- 3. Expenditures Itemized List (must be submitted at the Officer Information Meeting at the State Conference)
- 4. Medical Information Form
- 5. Media Release Form
- 6. Candidate Checklist (Must be signed by the candidate and advisor)

Materials to be Supplied by Candidate

1. Candidate's cover letter which includes the candidate's reason(s) for applying addressed to **NOT MAILED** to:

Christine Phipps, State Advisor New Mexico Business Professionals of America 1500 South Ave. K; ENMU Station 61 Portales, New Mexico, 88130

- 2. Chapter Advisor's Letter of Recommendation
- 3. Candidate's Resume which includes candidate's career objective (one page maximum, typed on 8.5 x 11 inch paper)
- 4. Candidate's statement of 100 words or less stating their name and why they wish to be a candidate for state office(candidates cannot mention a specific office). These 100 word statements must be typed. These will be published and provided to the Voting Delegates as submitted by the candidate. Any words over the 100 word limit will not be included. (Examples in Resources Section)
- 5. Official HS Transcript with seal and signature of official authority. If school policy prohibits the distribution of an official transcript to students, the candidate must request a transcript be sent to the State Executive Council Coordinator by the deadline. Contact Leslie Ferris at lesliedannferris@yahoo.com for mailing information.
- 6. A color photograph at least wallet sized. These photos will be converted to black and white and provided to the voting delegates with the 100 Word Statements. The full color photos may be used online and at sessions.

Application Review:

- Each candidate's application form and materials will be carefully reviewed for accuracy and completeness by the State Executive Council Coordinator and/or State Advisor.
- Candidates who submit an **incomplete** or **late** application forms and materials **WILL BE automatically eliminated from consideration as a candidate.**
- Make sure all forms and 100 Word Statements include the proper required signatures.



Notification of Candidacy:

- All candidates will receive notification from the State Executive Council Coordinator concerning the status of their application for State Executive Team Candidate candidacy.
- Notification will be made by the State Executive Council Coordinator directly to the state officer candidate and the Local Chapter Advisor via email correspondence.
- Notification will be made <u>two weeks prior to the State Leadership Conference on or before</u> <u>February 1, 2024</u>

Following notification of eligibility, the candidate will:

- Again, thoroughly review all information contained within this Handbook;
- Prepare campaign materials, including a speech.
- Prepare and type a list of detailed expenditures for campaign materials.
- Attend all campaign/election sessions and activities at the State Leadership Conference.

Campaign Regulations:

Responsibility

- The Candidate, their Campaign Manager, Voting Delegates, members, and advisors must observe all campaign regulations.
- Failure to do so may result in disqualification of the candidate.

Campaign Managers

- The campaign manager must have current State and National dues paid, be an active member in good standing, of the same local chapter as the candidate.
- The campaign manager will head the entire campaign for the candidate and may be required to attend some campaign meetings at the State Leadership Conference.

Expenditures/Campaign Expenses

- A maximum expenditure of \$200 per candidate may be used for the campaign rally.
- The candidate or the candidate's campaign manager shall submit an itemized statement of all campaign expenses to the State Executive Council Coordinator at the Officer Candidate Information Meeting at the State Leadership Conference.
- All donated materials must be included in the itemized list of expenses, at the fair market value.
- Each candidate will be allowed one easel that does not have to be added to the expense report. This easel must be provided by the candidate. If you use more than one, then it must be listed on your report.
- Candidates are allowed to use up to a 17" battery powered computer or tablet during their campaign rally. The computer will need to be listed on the expense report, but will not be an expense item.
- No material of any kind is to be affixed to walls! It is the responsibility of all candidates to ensure that the conference site does not become littered with campaign material.
- No matter the actual costs:
 - Copies will be listed on the expense report at \$.05 each for black and white copies and \$.25 cents each for color copies.
 - Pictures will be listed as \$.10 for 4x6, \$.25 for wallet, \$.60 for 5x7, and \$2.50 for 8x10 for each picture used
 - Other sizes will be listed per market value.
- Itemized reports must be signed by the candidate and the advisor.



• Failure to submit the itemized list at the start of the Officer Candidate Information Meeting will result in automatic disqualification of the Candidate. (This form is at the end of the handbook)

Campaign Speeches

- All candidates will have the opportunity to give campaign speeches during the Business Session.
- Time limitation for speeches will be two minutes.
- Candidates may not refer to any office by name specifically.
- The use of skits, props, costumes, demonstrations, or the assistance of another person are not allowed.
- The candidate may not solicit or invite audience preparation. The candidate will not be held accountable for spontaneous audience responses.
- All speeches must be original and written by the candidate.
 - o If you were a former candidate, a new speech is required.
- Speeches by candidates are presented in an order determined prior to the session by a random draw of names. No announcement of the order of speeches will be made prior to the session.
- All speeches must be emailed prior to the State Leadership Conference for approval. Speeches will be emailed to newmexicobpa@gmail.com one week before the State Leadership Conference on or before February 7, 2024. Any late submissions will not be approved and you will be disqualified.

Campaigning

- Prior to SLC
 - No campaigning may be conducted between local chapters prior to the SLC. This includes but is not limited to social media, mailings, emails, meetings, phone calls, etc.
 - The candidate's own local chapter is the exception.

At the SLC

- No campaigning may be conducted prior to the State Leadership Conference with the exception of campaigning within your own local chapter.
- Distribution of materials or display of posters or flyers is allowed only during the Campaign Rally. Materials may not be distributed before this time or outside of the Campaign Rally Room.
- Verbal campaigning may begin immediately after the Candidate Information Meeting at the State Leadership Conference. (No posters, handouts, candy, etc. may be given out until the Campaign Rally).
- The candidate and campaign manager are the only people authorized to campaign for the candidate.
- Each candidate will be provided with space at the Campaign Rally. This space will include one (1) table that can be used to set-up and distribute campaign materials. Other supplies (such as a table cloth, tape, easels, scissors, etc.) must be supplied by the candidate.
- The candidate and the campaign manager only may set up materials at the time and place designated for the Campaign Rally at the State Leadership Conference.
- The candidate, campaign manager, or chapter advisor must remove materials at the designated time. Failure to remove materials from the Campaign Rally may result in disqualification of the candidate.

Campaign Materials

- Materials may not refer to a specific position outside of State Officer Candidate.
- Materials may not be affixed in any way to the conference property.
- Materials must be set up and then removed at the designated times.
- Materials can only be distributed at the Campaign Rally inside of the Campaign Rally Room.



- Posters must be reasonable size, free standing, or displayed on an easel which must be supplied by the chapter. They can only be displayed at the Campaign Rally.
- Helium balloons, glitter, and confetti are not permitted in the Campaign Rally.
- Stickers are also not allowed to be handed out during the Campaign Rally.
- Only Officer Candidates and their Campaign Managers can actively campaign during the Campaign Rally.
- No material of any kind is to be affixed to walls! It is the responsibility of all candidates to ensure that the conference site does not become littered with campaign material.
- All campaign material, with the exception of buttons or pins is limited to the election/caucus room.

Online Elections

In the event that the State Leadership Conference becomes	virtual, the Virtu	ual Elections Ha	andbook and p	lan will be
utilized and will be distributed accordingly.				

NMAA Policy-Co-Curricular Activities

New Mexico Activities Association 8.1.3 Co-Curricular Activities Co-curricular activities are activities that are an extension of classroom instruction which are governed by the Educational Standards for New Mexico Schools or local board policy. Classroom instruction should require no more than twenty (20) hours per month of time for a student outside of the regularly scheduled instructional day for practice, meetings, events or performances. Co-curricular activities are required as part of the course work if a student is to receive credit for the course. Co-curricular activities do not require that students be absent from class other than the sponsoring class for practice, meetings, events or performances. Scholastic requirements do not apply to co-curricular activities held at the school. Students involved in co-curricular activities away from the school must adhere to the same scholastic requirements set forth by the Association for athletic participation. (See 6.2) EXAMPLES: Vocational, fine arts, club activities, field trips



Election Information

Seating

- Candidates (campaign managers and chapter advisors may attend this as well) must attend the Officer Candidate Information Meeting at the State Leadership Conference.
- Candidates and campaign managers must be seated in the reserved section designated <u>at least 10 minutes prior</u> to the start of the Business Session.
- Voting Delegates must be seated in the reserved section designated <u>at least 10 minutes prior to the start of the Business Session</u>. Voting Delegates not seated for roll call may be disqualified from voting.

Voting Delegate Allocation

Local chapters exercise their voting privilege and conduct all business through member voting delegates at the State Leadership Conference. Only member voting delegates may participate in discussion.

Each chapter is entitled to two (2) voting delegates. The HEAD Voting Delegate must announce how many voting delegates are present from each chapter at the time of roll call during the First General Session.

- A chapter must submit the initial membership roster and pay both State & National dues by the designated postmark date in order to be allocated voting delegates.
- A chapter may lose voting privileges if voting delegates are absent for roll call during any session the state conference program states that they need to attend.
- All ballots will be tabulated by State Staff/BPA Board

Voting Delegate Responsibilities

Voting Delegates play an important and vital role in the election of officers. Therefore, it is crucial that all voting delegates understand and agree to fulfill the following responsibilities.

Specifically, voting delegates will:

- Read this Handbook thoroughly, ask questions as necessary, and abide by all campaign/election regulations.
- Wear the appropriate Voting Delegate ribbon.
- Visit each candidate at the Campaign Rally.
- Attend the Business Session for roll call and the Candidate Speeches.
- Be seated promptly for all sessions at the designated time and place.

Voting Delegate Procedures

- Voting Delegates will report to the assigned room at the time indicated.
 - Doors to the assembly area will be closed at the designated time and a roll call of chapters will be held to establish the total number of votes possible.
- After the roll call--late arriving delegates will not be allowed to be seated.
- Local Chapter Voting Delegates must be present for roll call in any session involving the State Officer/National Officer Candidate process or other business.



Answering roll call...

When the Local Chapter's name is called:

<u>All Voting Delegates</u> will stand and remain standing until count is verified and delegates are told to be seated.

<u>Head Voting Delegate</u> will give the name of the school and announce the number of voting delegates present and the number of conference delegates present from their chapter. (For example, "XYZ Chapter is present with 2 voting delegates and 56 members.")

- Only voting delegates may present business for consideration at the Meeting Assembly.
- In order to speak, a voting delegate must be recognized by the presiding state officer/Chair.

Gaining recognition to speak:

At the appropriate time in the agenda:

Voting Delegate will stand and address the presiding officer. (For example, "Mr. or Madame President or Chairperson"

When recognized by the Chair:

Voting Delegate will state his or her name, local chapter, and business (For example, "Leslie Ferris, Hogwarts High School, I move that..."

• All motions and/or resolutions presented must be in writing. Two copies must be given to the State Advisor immediately following verbal introduction.

General Election Procedures

- The election ballots will be cast at the conclusion of the Campaign Rally.
- Only Local Chapter Voting Delegates may vote.

Official Ballot

- Ballots will be distributed to voting delegates electronically. The ballots will then be collected by the State Executive Council Coordinator(s) and confirmed by the Board of Directors.
- Each voting delegate will cast up to 5 votes for State Executive Council candidates and up to 1 vote for national candidates.
- From those votes cast,
 - The candidates receiving the most votes on the first ballot will be elected. A tie vote will result in an additional ballot for that office.
 - The 5 State Executive Officer Candidates receiving the most votes will be elected to the State Executive Council.
 - Up to 2 National Officer Candidates receiving the most votes will be reviewed by the Board for selection as New Mexico National Officer Candidates.



Election Sessions

Penalty for Absence of those "who must attend" is as follows:

Candidate - Disqualification
Campaign Manager - Possible Disqualification of Candidate
Voting Delegate - loss of Vte for each absent Voting Delegate

Candidate Briefing Meeting-Prior to State Leadership Conference

Who Must Attend: Candidate, Chapter Advisor, at least one Parent/Guardian What will Happen:

- Responsibilities and time commitment of officers will be reviewed.
- Responsibilities of the local Chapter Advisor will be reviewed.

Officer Candidate Information Session

Who Must Attend: Candidate

Who May Attend: Campaign Manager, local Advisor, Parent/Guardian

What will Happen:

- Officer Candidate Guidelines and expectations will be reviewed.
- Officer specific duties will be discussed and candidates and/or advisors will have a time to ask questions.
- Election materials will be distributed.
- The candidates will take the Business Professionals of America Test which will be scored. Candidates' scores will be provided to all Voting Delegates in the Opening Session. (BPA Fact Sheet is available in the Resources Section)
 - Please bring a laptop or tablet to take the Knowledge Test.
 - If a candidate needs special assistance, please contact Leslie Ferris in advance.
- Expense reports from the candidates will be collected and verified.
- Candidate responsibilities for the State Leadership Conference will be distributed. All duties are mandatory unless you have a specific contest conflict.
- Candidates will rank their office preferences. (State Executive Officer Team Candidates Only)

Officer Candidate Interviews

Who Must Attend: Candidate

What will Happen:

- Candidate interviews will follow the Information Session.
- Each candidate will go through an interview with the Placement Committee.



Campaign Area Set-Up

Who Must Attend: Candidate, Campaign Manager

Who May Attend: Local Advisor

What will Happen:

• Candidates and Campaign managers will have a time to set up their campaign table.

• Please refer to this handbook for specific guidelines for the table and campaign materials.

Business Session

Who Must Attend: Candidates

What will Happen:

• Candidates will be introduced on stage.

• Campaign managers may sit with their candidates in assigned seating

Opening Session

Who Must Attend: Candidates, Voting Delegates

What will Happen:

- Voting Delegates will have assigned seating.
- Roll will be taken for all Voting Delegates.
- Candidates should be seated at least 10 minutes before the start of the session in their designated seats.
- Voting Delegates should be seated at least 10 minutes before the start of the session in their designated seats.
- Candidates will give prepared speeches. No questions may be asked by Voting Delegates.
- Campaign managers may sit with their candidates in assigned seating
- Candidates and Campaign managers will be dismissed from the session early to move to the Campaign Rally area.

Campaign Rally

Who Must Attend: Candidates, Campaign Managers, Voting Delegates

Who May Attend: Local Advisors

What will Happen:

- Voting Delegates and Local Advisors will have the opportunity to personally meet, talk to, and question the candidates.
- Only Voting Delegates will be allowed to vote in the election.
- Ballots will be provided at the conclusion of the time allowed for the Campaign Rally.

Awards Session

Who Must Attend: Candidates

What Will Happen:

- Candidates will help with the presentation of medals.
- The new State Officer Team will be announced and sworn in after awards.
- The New Mexico National Officer Candidate(s) will be announced.



New Officer Orientation

Who Must Attend: New Officer Team and New Mexico National Officer Candidates

Who May Attend: Local Advisors, Parent/Guardian

What will Happen:

• Paperwork will be submitted by newly elected officers & candidates.

Information will be given to the newly elected officers & candidates in preparation for upcoming meetings and trainings.



Officer Candidate Checklist

Officer candidates will be expected to submit an Officer Candidate Packet by the set deadline. The submitted packet should include the following:

Officer Candidate Packet:	
 □ Officer Candidate Checklist (signed by candidate and a □ Officer Candidate Nomination Form (completed online □ Candidate Cover Letter (Indicating reasons for applyin □ Advisor Letter of Recommendation □ Candidate's Resume □ Official HS Transcript with seal and signature of offici □ Emailed to newmexicobpa@gmail.com □ A color photograph at least wallet sized in digital form □ 100 Word Statement with Signature of Candidate □ 100 Word Statement Word Version □ Certification & Basic Agreements □ Local Advisor Guidelines □ Medical Information/Delegate Form □ Media Release Form 	g for and qualifications.) al authority
Note: Packets must be submitted at https://tinyurl.com/NMBPANOC2 not meeting the deadline will be returned. All applications must be sexceptions will be made. Please keep copies of all forms forms for the property of the p	ubmitted once and complete, absolutely no
Candidate Signature	Advisor Signature



Candidate Nomination Form Information Sheet

Candidate Information will be collected through an online form at:

https://tinyurl.com/NMBPANOC24

All other forms will also need to be uploaded as PDFs at the above URL.



Candidate Certification				
I certify that I am a member in good standing of the Chapter of Business Professionals of America. I also certify that I will be returning as a member of the above chapter next year. I have read and understand all of the requirements in my Office Candidate Handbook, and that all information submitted herein is accurate and correct.				
Date:				
Candidate's Signature				
Candidate/Parent Agreement				
Candidate/Parent Agreement If elected, I will attend the required National Leadership Conference, attend all national meetings, adhere to the Code of Ethics, actively serve in office to the best of my ability, abide by the Constitution and policies of the Business Professionals of America and be a student member.				
My parents/guardians and I understand the obligations of serving as a New Mexico State Officer/National Candidate - being enrolled in a Career Technical Education class which aligns with my organization or serving as a lab assistant for my chapter advisor during my term of office, attending all meetings or conferences as listed on the Officer Calendar or any other meetings called during my term of office. We further assume the responsibility for all personal expenses, and those not paid by the local, district, or state association. The state or local association will not be held responsible in the event of an accident. If elected, I will serve to the best of my ability and will resign if I fail to fulfill my responsibilities. Failure to perform to expected standards will obligate repayment of all finances as indicated in my CTSO Policies and Procedures and/or removal from office at the Board's discretion. I further understand that I will be a role model and spokesperson for my organization and will conduct myself accordingly throughout my term of office at all times. I will abide by the constitution and by-laws of my state organization. Furthermore, I will maintain the grade point delineated in the officer's application for my CTSO.				
Date:				
Candidate's Signature				
Date:				
Parent/Guardian's Signature				
Advisor/Principal Agreement				
Advisor/Principal Agreement The above candidate is a member in good standing of the				
Local Advisor's Signature				
Principal's Signature Date:				



Local Advisor Guidelines

We appreciate your support in running a candidate for office! You play a key role in developing our officer candidates. In fact, your student is most likely enthusiastic about leading our organization because of the encouragement they received from you! However, having an officer also requires the commitment and dedication of the local advisor. Please review the following and sign the form below to indicate you are aware of your advisor responsibilities in sponsoring an officer candidate:

- 1. I agree to run only candidates that I feel have the character and maturity to lead Business Professionals of America as an officer. I also pledge to encourage our BPA chapter to fully support our officer during his/her term in office. I have discussed the STATE OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES with my candidate and feel confident that they are capable of successfully performing all the required tasks.
- 2. I agree that if my student is to win an office, we will review the officer schedule frequently and I will strongly recommend that he/she make Business Professionals Officer activities a top priority. We have reviewed the OFFICER CALENDAR and he/she understands that failure to attend required meetings may result in removal from office.
- 3. I will communicate in a timely manner with the State Advisor, State Executive Council Coordinator, and Board of Directors to help my student fulfill his/her officers' duties.
- 4. I will assist my student in returning articles and other officer materials to the State Executive Council Coordinator in a timely manner.
- 5. I understand that the school is responsible for providing transportation to all officer activities.
 - a. I have also discussed with this candidate's parent/guardian the travel requirements of the job. We agree to accompany them at our expense when traveling to required events.

We appreciate the valuable role BPA advisors h	ave in forming our state officer team. The future success
of Business Professionals of America depends u	upon your ability to recognize leadership skills in your
students! Thank you for your support!	
	Date:
Local Advisor's Signature	



Medical Information/Delegate Form

Please follow the link below to access the form:

http://nmctso.com/bpa/officers/



Media Release Form

I grant permission to Business Professionals of America, New Mexico Association, to use my child's name and/or photographs for use in organization publications, such as, but not limited to, recruiting brochures, newsletters, and websites, and to use said name and/or photographs on display boards, and to use my name and/or photographs in electronic versions of the same publications or on the New Mexico BPA website or other electronic forms or media.

I hereby waive any right to inspect or approve the finished photographs or printed or electronic matter that may be used in conjunction with them now or in the future, whether that use is known to me or unknown, and I waive any right to royalties or other compensation arising from or related to the use of the photograph.

I hereby agree to release, defend, and hold harmless BPA, including any firm publishing and/or distributing the finished product in whole or in part, whether on paper or via electronic media, from and against any claims, damages and liability arising from or related to the use of the photographs or information, including, but not limited to, any misuse, distortion, blurring, alteration, optical illusion or use in composite form, either intentionally or otherwise, that may occur or be produced in taking, processing, reduction or production of the finished product, its publication or distribution.

I am the parent or legal guardian of the below named child. I have read this release before signing below, and I fully understand the contents, meaning, and impact of this release. I understand that I am free to address any specific questions regarding this release by submitting those questions in writing prior to signing, and I agree that my failure to do so will be interpreted as a free and knowledgeable acceptance of the terms of release.

Officer Candidate's First and Last Name:	
Parent/Legal Guardian's Name (Please Print):	
Parent/Legal Guardian's Signature:	
Date:	



Expenditures/Campaign Expenses

Officer Campaign Expense Report						
	Item Description	# of Units	Qty. Description	Cost per Unit	Total Cos	
1			•			
2 3 4 5 6						
3						
4						
5						
5						
7						
3						
9						
10						
11						
12						
13						
14						
			To	otal Expenses	\$	

	Date:
Officer Candidate Signature	
	Date:
Campaign Manager Signature	
	Date:
Local Advisor Signature	

I verify this report is true and factual and that I will not receive reimbursements for my expenses.

Candidate Name: _____

The completed Campaign Expense Report needs to be turned in at the Candidate Information Meeting during the SLC.



Expenditures/Campaign Expense Report Sample

The Campaign Expense Report will be turned in at the Candidate Information Meeting at the State Leadership Conference.

- List every item that is used for your campaign and/or campaign booth, even if it is donated or free.
- Calculate the market value for all donated items. If the item is not listed on the Expense Report, it should not be on your table at the Rally.
- Please attached/provide copies of all receipts available.
 - For items where there is no receipt, an estimated market value for the item should be used. Be specific and make sure you cover every item.

Sample Report:

Candidate Name: Leslie Ferris

	Officer Campaign Expense Report						
	Item Description	# of Units	Qty. Description	Cost per Unit	Total Cost		
1	Poster Board	3	Each	\$1.00	\$3.00		
2	Glue Stick	1	Each	\$1.98	\$1.98		
3	Permanent Markers	1	Package	\$2.45	\$2.45		
4	Construction Paper	4	Packages	\$1.20	\$4.80		
5	Tape	1	Roll	\$0.99	\$0.99		
6	Lollipops	3	Bags	\$2.00	\$6.00		
7	Black and White Copies	8	Sheets	\$0.10	\$0.80		
8	Color Copies	17	Sheets	\$0.40	\$0.40		
9	Business Cards	40	Cards	\$0.20	\$8.00		
10	Printer Ink	1	Cartridge	\$24.95	\$24.95		
11	Toilet Paper Holders (Donated)	6	Holders	\$0.10	\$0.60		
12	Glow Sticks	100	Sticks	\$0.20	\$20.00		
13	17" Mac Laptop	1	Each	N/A	N/A		
14							
				Total Expenses	\$73.97		



Officer Candidate Important Dates/Events

- 1. Before State Leadership Conference
 - a. Officer Packet Due
 - i. Must be submitted online by 4:30 pm MST on January 19, 2024 at https://tinyurl.com/NMBPANOC24
 - b. Officer Candidacy Approval Emailed
 - i. Approval will be emailed from Leslie Ferris, State Executive Council Coordinator, on or before February 1, 2024.
 - c. Officer Candidate Speech Due Date
 - i. All speeches must be typed and emailed to <u>lesliedannferris@yahoo.com</u> on or before February 7, 2024.
 - ii. Approval will be emailed back before the State Leadership Conference
- 2. At State Leadership Conference
 - a. Candidate Information Section & Knowledge Test
 - b. Candidate Interviews
 - c. Campaign Rally Set-Up
 - d. Opening Session
 - i. Must be seated at least 10 minutes before Opening Session begins
 - e. Business Session
 - i. Must be seated at least 10 minutes before Opening Session begins
 - f. Campaign Rally
 - g. Closing Session/Awards
 - h. New Officer Orientation-New Officers and National Officer Candidates Only.
 - i. Other events as designated by the State Executive Council Coordinators and State Advisor



RESOURCES

- 1. BPA Fact Sheet
- 2. BPA Style Reference Manual a. Production Standards

 - b. Letter
- 3. 100 Word Statement Examples

Letter

First Page Top Margin: 2"

Second and Subsequent Page Top Margin: 1"

Side Margins: 1"

Use open punctuation

November 16, 20 (use current date unless otherwise specified)

(QS)

Mr. Larry Brown, President Brown Office Supplies 1101 Hortez Road Chicago, IL 60601-1234 (DS) Dear Mr. Brown

(DS)

ACCOUNT BALANCE (if no subject line, then only DS after salutation)

Your current balance on the enclosed invoice is long overdue. We are planning to turn your records over to a collection agency soon.

It is important that you contact our accounting department immediately to arrange an easy payment plan that will be satisfactory to both parties.

Please contact Roger Owens, your account representative, at 601-555-0014. (DS) Sincerely

(QS)

Nancy Wells Chief Executive Officer (DS) XX (DS) Enclosure(s) (DS) Roger Owens Harvey Rosen

LETTER—Second and Subsequent Page Header At left margin: Name of Addressee or Company (key the word Page followed by the page number) Page 2 Date

Spacing of Header Information: SS

100 WORD STATEMENT EXAMPLES

"Life is not tried, it is merely survived if you're standing outside the fire.' These words ring true for everything in BPA. Being involved in an amazing organization has brought me many opportunities personally and professionally. It has also brought a variety of leadership opportunities. I want to step into the fire of success with BPA and spread the flame of BPA as a State Officer. I want to motivate others to heat up their life with involvement in an organization that has meant so much to me and that I know will help create a bright future for everyone!"

"Becoming a state officer for Business Professionals of America would be a challenge, privilege, and an opportunity to connect with all Ohio members. I believe acquiring this position would further enhance my skills in leadership, responsibility, and teamwork, which will guide me to excel in my future. Through encouragement, I hope to motivate members to participate in all aspects of BPA including competitions, Torch Awards, and the BPA Cares Program. Inspiring members to excel in their future goals is something I wish to achieve. With proper effectiveness in this position, I hope to set an example for future members."

"Being in Business Professionals of America opens new doors to our state's young generations. While being in the program, I would like our young generations to explore the business world as much as possible. I want to be a state officer because I want to make a difference in Business Professionals of America's future. I possess qualities such as dependability, leadership, and creativeness that can help our organization thrive. Whether it be competitions, community service, or any other task BPA proposes, I would love to take on the task and grow our BPA community by being in the state office."

"Through Business Professionals of America, I have continued to set new goals to enhance my success within the organization by setting my goals higher than I would have ever imagined. My business program and BPA have taught me so much I want to become more involved with members at the state level. I believe I would enhance the officer team with my well-rounded skills and achievements in academics and the organization. I am prepared to dedicate my time to creating a higher awareness of the organization to grow membership while promoting our state's achievements in competitions and community service."

"I would like to become a BPA State Officer so that I could have the opportunity to help spread the inspiration and experience I have gained through Business Professionals of America to my peers and other members. I have been very involved in my local chapter including holding leadership roles, participating at the state and national levels, and attending the previous two Fall Leadership Conferences. I could take the experience I have gained through these opportunities and use them to help keep moving BPA forward."

"Business Professionals of America has given me the opportunity to dream bigger about my future. My biggest goal is to help BPA do the same for each and every one of you. I believe the best way to achieve this goal is to run for state officer. I have been blessed to hold a leadership position in BPA since my freshman year, being a class representative. My other leadership opportunities include being a leader on and off the field for my school's Varsity Soccer team and Varsity Baseball team, and as a member of National Honors Society. Let's Dream bigger together."